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Fire Department


The first fire of consequence in Columbus occurred in the spring of 1822.  Eight buildings were consumed—a dwelling and seven small shops.  It was probably this fire which led the Council to provide on February 21, 1822, by enrollment in the Mayor’s office for “one hook and ax company consisting of 13 men, one ladder company consisting of 12 men and one company consisting of 12 men, as a guard to property.”  The ordinance empowered the Mayor to draft men for these companies, if necessary, and made it the duty of all men from 13 to 50 years to serve as serve as bucket men; called for the appointment of one supreme director at all fires and required the marshal, on the first alarm of fire, to ring the bell or cause it to be rung.  An inspection of the borough for fire dangers four times a year was required, and
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The Mayor was directed to procure at public expense “two long ladders, four axes, four short ladders and two hooks.” And required each owner or occupant of a dwelling, store or shop to furnish as many “water buckets of good jacked leather, each to contain 10 quarts,” as the committee of safety should direct.  In 1825 of the existence of 247 of these fire-buckets was reported, and in the following year their possessors were made responsible for their care and keeping them in condition under penalty of a fine.  The General Assembly was asked to make an appropriation for an engine, and it seems that the State bought one.  It was a force pump worked by moving levers up and down, and was called “The Tub.”  In 1831 Council provided a reward of %5 for the first man to reach the engine house after an alarm of fire, and $3 for the second.  The house that sheltered “The Tub” was on the capitol square east of the State House.

In 1835 the city bought two of the primitive engines, erected an engine house at the cost of $1,000 and provided for five fire cisterns, each to cost $130 and having a capacity of 6,000 gallons, at the intersection of High street with Broad, State, Town, Rich and Friend (Main) streets.  An ordinance created a company of fire wardens, another of fire guards, a hook and ladder company, an engine and hose company and a protection society, each of these companies to be composed of volunteer members, exempt from military duty and holding their placers at the pleasure of Council.  Membership was for a time attractive, but the service lost its novelty and within two years after their organization there was talk of disband them.  They were continued, and various efforts were made to stimulate interest.  The force was divided into two brigades, the engines of one being located on the State House square and those of the other near the corner of High and Mound.  Rewards were offered to the company which should first arrive at the scene of a fire, and a sharp rivalry was thus created, as also at the time of the election of chief engineer.  John Miller, Alexander McCoy, William McCoy, William Westwater, G. M. Swan, and John Weaver were among those who at various times occupied the post, and there is the testimony of the newspapers of the time that they commanded as efficient a force of volunteer firemen as ever created.

In 1842 two new engines—one named the “Franklin” and the other the “Scioto”—were bought and other cisterns were dug at the intersections of Third with State, Town and Friend, at the intersections of Front with Broad, State and Rich, at High and Gay and Mound and High.  On August 11, 1851, the city bought three lots as engine house sites.  One was on Third street near Town: another on Gay street east of High and the third on State street
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Between High and Front; and in the following year there was talk of an alarm bell which would save the firemen much effort by locating the fire for them.  An ordinance in 1853 forbidding the firemen to run their engines on the sidewalks gave them offense, and several of the companies disbanded.  The same year, Council fixed the salary of the chief engineer at $100.  Then engine house on Gay street was completed in 1854 and the one on Third street in 1855.  Council bought a steam fire engine and put it in the Third street house at a cost of $6,000.  This gave still further offense, and two other companies disbanded.  The need to reorganize the fire department was apparent and Council acted to that end, but it, too, got into a foolish contention over the election of a chief engineer, and it was only on the 170th ballot that Charles M. Ridgway was chosen.  However, it was not certain whether the chief engineer or the fire committee of the Council was in control, and a newspaper of the time remarked:  “The Columbus Fire Department is composed of two unequal parts—the ornamental and the useful.  The ornamental but by no manner of means useful part is called the committee of the Council on fire department.  The useful, but not at all ornamental, is composed of one chief engineer, one operator, five men, five horses, three wheels and a great squirt.”  In this crisis James Westover organized a hand engine company March 15, 1856, and asked for the Franklin engine and the Niagara hose wagon.  This company did good service at a fire on the west bank of the Scioto, the same year, but the steam engine was unable to reach the fire because its chimney was too high to pass through the bridge.

And so the story runs on through the years, the city gradually, but reluctantly, drifting to a paid department basis.  Charles Ridgway resigned as chief engineer in 1856 and Mr. Trowbridge was elected, the Council committee having established its supremacy.  The burning of the Neil House in 1860 showed the inadequacy of the department.  Two rotary steam fire engines were purchased, and the department was put under the authority of the chief engineer, John Miller being appointed to that place at a salary of $600.  One of the new engines was put in the Gay street house and the other in the Third street house, the first steam engine being sold.  A third steamer was purchased a little later.  John Miller resigned as chief engineer and was succeeded by Isaac Marrow, in November, 1863, who organized a system of fire alarms by church bells, the number of the stroke denoting the district in which the fire was located.  The fire alarm telegraph was installed in 1868 at a cost of $4,500.  Wm. S. Huffman became chief engineer in August, 1868, vice Marrow resigned.  The equipment of the department in the following April consisted of one chief engineer, one superintendent of fire alarm telegraph, three steamer engines, three foremen, three engine-drivers, three horsemen, two truckmen, four steamers, four carriages, one hook and ladder apparatus, ten horses and a supply of hose, 54 wells and 72 cisterns.  On April 12, 1869, Henry Heinmiller became chief engineer and served for 11 years, during which time the Flowers engine house and the South High street engine house were opened and the equipment of the department increased, the fire insurance companies adding at their own expense a chemical engine and salvage wagon combined, provided the city would properly house and man it.  On September 6, 1880, D. D. Tresenrider was appointed chief engineer.  He was suspended from office March 2, 1882, by the Mayor, on charges preferred by former employe[e]s; the Council refused to acquiesce, and the case was settled by a supreme Court decision in favor of Tresenrider the following month.  In 1886, Charles Bryson was nominated by the Mayor as chief engineer, but the Council refused to confirm.  Bryson undertook to act anyway, and the Supreme Court, again appealed to, deciding adversely to Bryson, the Mayor appointed Joseph Grovenberry, who resigned soon after on account of an injury, when the Mayor appointed W. P. Callahan.  Council rejected the nomination and reinstated Tresenrider who was suspended by the Mayor.  The case was taken before Judge Bingham, of the Common Pleas Court, who enjoined the Mayor, Callahan and all others from interference with the department, and Tresenrider again took charge December 1, after a struggle extending over six months.  Henry Heinmiller again became chief engineer, succeeding Tresenrider in 1890, and in the following April reported that the department then possessed, fully manned, six steam fire engine companies, seven hose companies, two hook and ladder companies, one engine supply wagon and one telegraph wagon, with the following apparatus in reserve:  Two second-class steam fire engines, three chemical engines and one four-wheeled hose carriage.

Chief Heinmiller was succeeded by Charles G. Lauer, under whose administration, 
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Begun in a wrangle, the department grew and served acceptably for years until a department without Lauer seemed almost an impossibility.  At his death, Chief Lauer was succeded by Jenkins Daniels, who is serving with the fidelity of an old fireman.  The personnel of the fire fighting force now runs to nearly 300 men.  There are seventeen engine houses and most of the apparatus has been motorized so that a run can be made at 50 miles an hour.  Besides fighting fire, the department does much by inspection to prevent fire.  A recent report showed the annual expenses to be $335,711.09.
